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KENNETH ZAHL, M.D., individually and 3~‘"’--"‘:‘._*" e ’;
on behalf of his child, ‘ el ’,'z LI _3_3 g&g::@ij, :%
Plaintff
-y- No. 08 Civ. 8308 (LTS THK)
KAREN KOSOVSKY. M.D.. et al.,
Defendants.
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MEMORANDUM OQPINION AND ORDER

Plaintift Kenneth Zaht, M.D.) (*Plainti{{” or “Zahl”} brings this actionpro s¢ against
Karen Kosovsky, M.D. (“Kosovsky™), Harry Kosovsky, M.D., and Gertrude Kosovsky (with
Kosovsky. the “Kesovsky Defendants™). Kevin McKeown (“*McKcown™). Robert Dobrish, Esq. and
Dobrish. Zeif, Gross, Wrubel, LLP (the “Dobrish Defendants™), Jo Ann Douglas, Esq. ("Douglas™),
SoftSplit LLC and Soft Split Kids LLC (the “Soft Split Defendants™), New York State Supreme
Court Justice Marilyn G, Diamond! individually, New York $tate Supreme Court Justice Joan B,
Lobis, in her individual and official capacities, New York State Supreme Court Justice Laura

Visitacton-Lewis, in her official capacity, Justice Jonathan Lippman] i his individual and official

Zakd purports to bring this zction individually and on behalf of his daughter. However,
“a non-attorney parent must be represented by counsel in bringing an action on behalf
ol his or her chukd.” Cheung v, Youth Orchestra Foundation of Buffalo. Inc, 906 F.2d
39,61 ¢2d Cir. 1990}, The Court therefore dismisses.sua sponte, the claims brought
on Zahl's daughter’s behalf. See Berrios v. New York City Housing Authority 564
F.Ad 130, 134 {2d Cir, 2009 citine Weneer v. Canastota Central School District 146
F.Ad 122,125 2d Cie. 19980,

‘The caption names “Judge Maryhin G, Diamond.” The New York State Unified Court
System website confirms that the Court’s spelling is correct.

Then- Justice Lippman is now the Chict Judge of the New York State Court of
Appeals.
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capacities, and Justice Jacqueline Silbermann. in her individual and official capacities (the “Judicial
Defendants™). the New York State Unified Court System and its Otfice of Court Administration
("NYS8 UCS™ and “OCA.” respectively, and together with the Judicial Defendants, the “State
Detendants™). and John and Jane Does 1 through 100, seeking a declaratory judgment pursuant to 28
U.S.CL§ 2201 and asserting causes ol uction pursuant 1o 42 U.S.C.8§ 1983, 1985(3), and 19806, the
Rackewcer [nfluenced and Corrupt Organization Act (“RICO™), 18 US.C.4 1962(b), icyand (), Title
[H of the Ominibus Crime Contrel and Safe Streets Act of 1968, ("Wiretap Act™). 18 U.S.(C8
25110 I Ha), 1R ULS.Co5 1708, 42 US.C.S 408(a)( ™). 18 U.S.C. 8§ 1503 and 1512, New York Penal
Law Arnictes 155 and 175, Section 487 of the New York Judiciary Law. and common taw ¢ivil
conspiracy. In a series of motions, all delendunts except the Soft Split and Doe defendantd {the
“Moving Defendants™) move to dismiss the complaint pursuant to Rules 8(a) and 12(b} of the Federal
Rules of Civil Procedure. as inadequately plead, Tor lack of subject matter jurisdiction and for failure
to state claims upon which rehief may be granted. Plaintiff asserts that the Court has onginal
jurisdiction of his federal claims and supplemental jurisdiction of his state law claims. The Court
has considered thoroughly the partics” submissions and. tor the following reasons, the Moving

Defendants™ motions will be granted in their enirety and the case will be disnissed in its entirety.

The Soft Split Defendants have nol entered appearances, although the Court has
recelved several communications from an individual through whom Soft Split Kids
was purportedly served and who claims no affiliation with thar entity. The Court
has suspended PlamtifT s ¢ffort to obtan default judgments against the Sofl Split
entities pending resolution of the instant motion practice.
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BACKGROUND

The Complaint includes the following factual aflegations.” PlaintifT and Defendant
Karen Kosovsky were married on September 9. 1996, (Compl. 4 36.) Plaintiff and Kosovsky’s
daughter, A.Z.. was born on Junc 4, 1991, {d. 4 22.) Plaintiff and Kosovsky separated on A 7.5
second birthday. and later that vear Kosovsky filed for divorce in New York County Supreme Court.
(1d, v 40-41.) Defendant Robert Dobrish, who is the managing partner of Defendant Dobrish, Zeif,
Gross, Wrubel, LLP, has represented Kosovsky in the state matrimonial action at all relevant times.
{Id. 99 24-25.% A thirteen-day trial was held in 1993 on the issue of custody of A.Z. before Justice
David Saxe (Id. % 199}, culminating in a deeision issued 1n February 1996 awarding sole custody to
Kosovsky with “liberal” visitation to Zahl. {d. % 202.) The divorce aspect of the action, including
the issues of child support and distribution of asscis. was bifurcated and f¢ft for a later date. {d.}
Justice Saxc was ¢levated to the Appeliate Division shortly atter issuing the custody decision. {499
202 222

The case was reassigned o several different judges over the next vear, and Justice
Saxc's custody decision was modificd several times. {d. 99 220-23, 233, 238.) Shortly alter Justice
Saxe’s departure, delendant Jo Ann Douglas was appointed as 2 law guardian to represent A7, [d.
2233 The case was cventually assigned to Justice Marilyn Diamond 1o or around April 1997, [d. 94
239, 2433 Atabout this time Plaintiff became unable to continue paying his attomey and proceeded

random assignment procedure normally used to assien judges (0 matrimonial cases in order to ensure

that the case would be assigned to her. {{d. %% 240-123 Justice Diamond reappointed Jo Ann

%

The 367-page long Complaint contains 702 paragraphs, with many subparagraphs. In
light of Plamtift's pro sc status, the Court has endeavored to constiue the Complaint
liberally.
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Douglas as law guardian, 4d. 4 250). and ultimately presided over the “divorce and financial phase”
of the action, including distribution of assets and deternvination of child support? (1d. % 239) Justice
Diamond also issued an order on February 24, 1999, regarding cuslody of AZ., modifying prior
custody orders.” (1d. ¥ 329}

In or around August 2002 Plaintift filed o petition, pro se, in New York Family Court,
sceking to enforee Justice Dhamond’s custody ovder entitling hun to limited visitation and thus
“pestore a relationship with AZ.” {(Compl. $* 478, 480.} At about the same fime Kaven Kosovsky
filed a motion relating o ¢hild support in Now Yeark Supreme Court, which was assigned to
Defendant Justice Lobis. and Plaintift ugreed to huve his petition transferred to Justice Lobis for joint
consideration with the child support motion, {d. 4 481.) Plamtiff aileges that Justice Diamond
contacted Justice Lobis in Getober 2002 1n order o “prejudice [Jusnee Lobis] against Dr. Zah! and
continue to terminate Dr. Zahl's parental rights™ and to “manipulatef]” fustice Lobis. {d. % 562.) A
hearing was held on Febroary 28, 2003 4d. 4 491, at the conclusion of which Justice Lobis refused
to enforce the Diamond custody order or 1o disqualify defendants Robert Dobrish and Jo Ann
Douglas.” (Compl. % 495

In or about August 2007, Plaintiff filed a petition lor a writ of habeas corpus in New
York County Family Court sceking to “redress the lack of contact [between Plaintitt and A7, ond

illegal acts hy some of the named defendants.” 4d. § $00.) The Family Court judge assigned to the

The Appellate Division, First Department, decision allirming the judgment and related
orders notes that judgment ol divorce was entered on July 10, 1998 Kosovsky v,
Zahl 684 NY.S.2d 524, 525 (App. Div. 1999).

This order. modified on March 3, 1999 {Pecl. of Kate Burson {(“Burson Deel.™), Fx.
Dy, was allirmed by the Appellate Division, Fivst Department. Kosovsky v, Zahl 707
NUY.S.2d 1608 tApp. Div, 20003,

Justice Lobis issued two written decision, both of which refor to the “post-judgment
matrimonial action,” dated January 27, 2003, and April 14, 2003, addressing these and
other issues. (See Burson Decl. Exs. E and 1)
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petition ruled in PlaintiTs tavor with respect to certain prehiminary matters. {d. ¥ 503-06.) Robert
Dobrish. presumably on behali of Karen Kosovsky, filed an application for an Ovder to Show Cause
to have the habeas petition “removed back™ 1o Justice Lobis shortly before the “return date™ in
Family Court. (Id. ¥ 506.3 Justice Lobis transierred Plaintiif’s petition to the post-judgment
crntforcement section of the Matrimonial Scetion of the New York County Supreme Court, where it
was assigned 1o Delendant Justice Visiacion-Lewis, {d. % 307.) Justice Vistacion-Lewis
reappointed Douglas as law guardian, 1ssued the Order to Show Cause, consolidated Plaintiff’s
petition with the post-judgment matrimonial action, and “suspended™ Plaintiff’s habeas corpus
petition by an order issued in November 2007, {Compl. 4% 313, 815, 5106, Burson Decl., Ex. G}
Tustice Visitacion-Lewis s decision was aftirnied on appeal by the Appeilate Division, First
Department. {Compl. ¥ 315 Justice Visitacion-Lewis dismissed Plaintifl's petition on October 14,

Neo later than 2003, Plaintiff became aware of the existence of the Soft Split
Defendants and their connection o other defendants. (Compl. 99 437, 493.) The Soft Split
Defendants provided individuals affected by divorce with resources meant to help them cope with the
attendant difficultics. inciuding anonymous access through a website to a “faculty” of lawyers,
mental health professionals, und accountants. (Jd. 4% 434-77.) Defendants Robert Dobrish and Jo
Ann Douglas were affibiated with the Soft Split Defendants. (d, ¥ 437)

Plaintiff asserts that during the htigation of the statc matrimorial action, up through
the trial belove Justice Diamond. the Kosovsky Defendants, the Dobrish Defendants, and MceKeown

harassed. intimidated. surveilled, and stole from Plaintiff. all in order to undermine his ability to

[t appears from the appellate decision that, in connection with Plaintiff”s habeas corpus
petition, 4 so-called Lincoln hearing was scheduled and that Plaintift was ordered to
have no contact with A.Z. until after that hearing, but that the petition was not actually
suspended. Kosovsky v, Zahl 859 N.Y.S.2d 442 (N.Y. App. Div. 2008).
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present his case at trial and ultimately deprive him of access to A.Z. Plaintiff alleges that, to that end,
the Kosovsky Delendants hired “armied private investigators”led by MceKeown to provoke public
confrontations during transfers ol A.Z. which they videotaped in the hope of catching Plaintiff
behaving objectionahly. (1d, 4% 41. 261, 204, 2063 The Kesovsky Defendants or McKeown sent
anonymous derogatory letters and faxes 1o Plaintitf's colleagues, employees and other associates.
{Id. ¥ 103) McKeown's team of armed private investigators lollowed Plaintiff during hus trips to
pick up A7 using muluple cars, video cameras, and eavesdropping on Plaintiff"s cellular telephone
calls. (Jd. 4% 333-339.360-01.) Occastonally. the Kosovskys or the inveshgators conlronted Plaintiff
physically. and some private investigators displaved weapons, {d.) The Kosovskys contacted the
police in early June 1993 and claimed that Plaintiff was armed and intended to kidvap A.Z.. and that
hie had assaulted Karen Kosovsky, causing cighl police officers to approach Plamtiff with guns drawn
while he was sitling in his car with two vear old AZ. on his lap. {d.9 339.) McKeown used the
transcript of Plamtift™s psychiamst’s deposition, taken by Dobrish. to induce New Jersey authorities
1o revoke Plaintiff’s gun permit on trumped up accusations. {d. *% 356-39.) When A Z. was three or
four years old, the Kosovskys had their private investigators videotape Plaintiff reading to A.Z. while
in his twenty-first floor apartment in Manhattan. 44,4 263.) McKeown also illegally obtained
Plaintuf{"s telephone records (d, *9 364-7 1. 373-74) and bank records (id. % 3757, searched his trash
(Id. * 272y, and harassed PlamttCs current wite, attempting 1o dissuade her from marryving him in
1998 (id. 9% 381-85). McKeown wrote a bock entitled “Your Secrets are miy Business,” published in
2000, which detatled the activities he had undertaken at the behest of the Kosovsky Defendants. {d.
% 23,207, 340, 352-85).

The Kosovskys “withheld™ A Z. from Plainttt in violation ot court arders {d, 44 199-
200, 208-09, 217-18). and coached A.7. 1o make falsc allegations of abuse against Plaimift {d. ©
245). During the diverce rial. Dobrish presented @ pension stalement that was stolen from Plaintiffs
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possession and used it to create the false impression that Plamtitf had licd on his “Statement of Net
Worth.” (Id. ¢ 2635-69.) Dobrish also inroduced an illegally obtained letter written by Plamtitt™s
secretary to a patient and confidential patient vecords to falsely imply that Plaintiff had surreptitionsly
siphoned money from his medical practice and had performed a medical procedure that showed hig
disability claim 10 have been [raudulent. which submission induced Justice Diamond to rule agamst
Zahl on a number of issues, (.9 271-75)

The Complaint seeks visitation with A Z., other injunctive relief, and money
damages in respect of litigation-related attorneys’ tees and expenses and allegedly excessive child
support obligations imposed by the state court. H is rife with allegations of bias and misconduct by
the state judicial officers and institutions that have handled the Zahl-Kosovsky domestic relations
htigation. Indeed. Plamtiff characterizes the Matrimonial Part of the New York State Supreme

Court and other participants in the ltigation and related matters as a “Matrimonial Mafia

Compl. %4 578, 607.) The varlous deprivations and obligations of which Plaintiff complains are
traceable to the judicial decisions, ncluding the appointiments of a guardian ad litem for A.Z. and
the assessment of costs and fees relating to the guardianship, made m the course of the state court
litigation.
DISCUSSION

The pending motions raise several grounds for dismissal of the complaint, the most
pertinent of which arc discussed here.

“Determining the existence of subject matter jurisdiction is a threshold inguiry and a
clatn is properly dismissed lor lack of subject matter jurisdiction under Rule [2{b)(1} when the

district eourt lacks the statutory or constifutional power to adjudicate 1.7 Arar v. Asherofl, 532
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F.3d 157, 168 (2d Cir. 2008) (internal citations and quotation marks omitted). “[Tlhe court must
take all Tacts alleged in the complaint as true and draw all reasonabie inferences in lfavor of plaintitf.”

Morrison v. National_Austalia Bank Lid. 547 F.3d (67, 170 {2d Cir, 2008) {quotingNalturai Res,

Detl._Council v. Johnsor 461 F.3d 164, 171 (2d Cir. 2006)), However: “[a] plaintiff asserting

subject matter jurisdiction has the burden of proving by a prepondcerance of the evidence that it

exists.” il (quoting Makarova v, Umited States 201 F.3d 110, 113 (24 Cir, 200433, and “that showing

15 not made by drawing ram the pleadimgs inferences favorable (0 the parly asscriing” subject matter

jurisdiction. 1d. {quoting APWLU v, Poller 343 F.3d 619. 623 (2d Cir. 2003}y, In determining

whether it has subject matter jurisdiction of the claims, the court may rely on evidence outside the
pleadings. Id.

Rooker-Feldman Doclrine

The Rocoker-Feldman doctrime deprives lower federal courts of subject matter

jurisdiction of any claim “that asseris mjury based on a state judgment and seeks review and reversal

of that judgment.” Hoblock v, Atbany County Board of Elections 422 F.3d 77. 86 (2d Cir. 2003), A

district court’s excrcise of jurisdiction in such a case would he tantamount to appellate review of the
state court judgment, tn violation of 28 U.S.C. § 1257, which vests federal appellate jurisdiction of

state court judgments exciusively in the United States Supreme Court. See Exxon Mobil Corp. v,

Saudi Basic Industries Corp. 344 1.5 280, 291-92 {2005}, Rooker-Feldman applies only when four

requi rements arc met:

Frrst, the federal-court plaintify must have lost in state court. Sccond,
the plamui must “complatn[ | of injuries caused by [a] state-court
judgment[.]” Third, the plaimtift must “invit[e] district court review
and rejection of {that] judgmem]| .7 Fourth, the state-court judgment
must have been “rendered belore the district court proceedings
commenced” - i.e.. Rooker-Feldman has no application to
federal-court suits proceeding in parallel with ongoing state-court
ltigation.
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first and fourth of these requirements may be toosely termed procedural; the second and third may be
termed substantive.” [d.

All of Ihe Moving Delcidunts asscrt that the Court {acks jurisdiction of Plamtiff’s
claims because all of the claims are, in cssence, attacks on the stafe court decisions m the
matrimonial proceedings and scek modification or reversal of the decistons, Defendants” point is
well-taken -~ Plamtiff sceks a declaration that all of the complained-of actions {including the
custody, child support and law guardian appoitment decistons) were 1llegal sach that they may be
adjudicated null and void. and secks damages for expenses incurred i connection with the

proceedings and/or by virtue ol the state court orders,

The Court first considers the “substantive”™ Rooker-Feldman requirements. A federal

suit is barred only to the extcnt that “it complains of injury from the state-court judgment and seeks
review and rejection of that judgment, but net (1o the extent that] it raises “some independent ¢claim.™”

Hoblock. 422 .34 at 80 {(quoting Exxon Mobil Corp.. 544 UK. at 293). 11 the claim in the federal

suil was tot raised in state court bnt “nonetheless complaws of injury from a state-court judgment
and sceks to have that state-court judgment reversed.” then it 1s not independent. Id, The substantive
requirements encompass all clanms “whether or not raised m state court. that assert]} injury based on

a slate judgment and seek[] review and reversal of that judgment.” Id.: sec also MeKithen v, Brown,

481 F.3d 89, 97-98 (2d Cw. 2007) ([ Tihe applicability of theRgoker-Feldman doctrine turns not on

the simtlarity between a party's statc-court and federal-coure ¢laims . . bt rather on the causal
relationship between the state-court judgment and the injury of which the party complains in federal
court.™. The Sccond Creuit’s discussion, inHoblock. of 4 hivpothetical case in which a federal court
plammniff who rclies on a theory not raiscd in state court but Is nevertheless barred by theRooker-

Feldman doctrine 1s instructive here because 1t describes a sifuation similar to that presented in this
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Case.

Suppose a state court. based purcly on state faw. lerminates a father’s
parenial righte and ordors the stale 1o take custody ol lus son. if the
father sues in federal court for the return of his son on grounds that the
state judgment violates his federal substantive due-process righis as a
parcnl. hie s complaining of an injury caused by the state judgment and
seeking its reversal. This he may not do. regardless of whether he
raised any constitutional claims io state court. because only the
Supreme Court may hear appeals trom state-court judgments.

Hoblock. 422 F.3d at 8§7. This hypothelical is also simular to the situation underlying the Supreme

Court’s decision m Rooker v, Fidelity Trust Co. which held that lederal district courts lack subject

matter jurisdicuion Lo entertain a suil sceking o have a state court judgment “deciared null and void.”
203 U8 413 (1922, The Supremce Cowrt explained that “[1jf the [state court] decision was wrong,
that did not make the judgnient void, but merely left it open to reversal or modification in an
appropriate and thnely appellate proceeding.” id, at 415, Becausc the district court did not have
appeliate jurisdiction, it was without authority to adjudicate the matter. I, at 416,

Iy the instant case, “state court[s], based purely on state law,” adjudicated the
matrimonial proceedings. including child custody and support issucs, between Kenncth Zahl and
Karen Kosovsky. Zahl now sucs i [ederal court for the reestablishment of his right to greater
visitation with his child  i.c.. for the reversal of the state counrt judgment -~ on the ground that the
slate decisions violate his federal constitutional rights. and for a declaration to that effect. Planuff
also asserts other claims, including RICO claims, but all of his ¢laims of inyury in the form of lost
contact and untoward cxpenses arise fundamentally from the state judges™ decisions in the stlale court

matrimontal proceedings. Plainuft's claims thus tall squarely within theRgoker-Feldman doctrine’s

substantive requirements because they seek to redress injurics caused by the state court pudgments by
way of review and modilicution or reversal of those judgments. Id. at 86.

The Court now turns to ihe “procedural” Rogker-Teldwan requirements. [t is
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uncontested that Plainti(T lost in state court with respect to cach decision that forms the basis of his
clmims. The first requirement is thercfore met, Judgment was entered 101 1999 and was thus rendered
before the instant action was commenced. on Seprember 26, 2008, Proceedings were held subsequent
to the entry of judgment, ineluding the 2003 dental of Plaintft™s petition to enforce the 1999
maodified custody order and rulings relating to Plainti#t’s 2007 habeas corpus petition {although final
disposition of that petition had not occurred as of the time of the filing of the mstant action). Justice
Lobis expressly relerred (o the state court action as one in a “post-judgnient” posture when she
decided the matters before her in 2003, The distinction between the earlior “judgment” and each
post-judgment “decision and order.” which did not contemplate any further proceedings and which

were no longer appealable at the time the instant action was filed, 18 purely nomenclatural and thus

inaterial for Rooker-Feldman purposes. The fourth requirement, that the state court judgment have
been rendered prior to the commencement of proceedings in district court. is satislied as to these
decisions.

The November 2067 order by Justice Visitacion-Lewis, however, was not final when
this case was commenced. 1t was 1ssued o clear contemplation of Turther proceedings, namely the
resolution of the merits of the habeas corpus petition, whieh was still pending after the isseance of the
subject order. Plaintiff's appeal of the November 2007 order was alfirmed 1n June 2008, before
this action was filed. and Justice Visitation-Lewis dismissed the petition on October 14, 2008. To
the extent that the non-tinality of the November 2007 witerlocutory order preciudes the dismissal of

the clanms pertaning to that order pursnant to the Reoker-Feldman doctrine. the Court abstains

from exercising jurisdiction of those claims for the reasons stated infra,

Because the four Hoblogk requirements are met with respeet to Plaintiff’s ¢laims
msofar as they scek reliel from the requirements or consequences of the state courts’ orders, the

Court is withoul jurisdiction of those claims, Accordingly, Counts 1-X, XI1 and XVII are dismissed.
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Fleventh Amendme

The State Delendants seck dismissal of the claims agamst NYS UCS and OCA and
all claims asserted against the Judicial Defendants in their official capacities, on grounds of
immumity under the Eleventh Amendmaent to the Constitution. Each state. as well as “state agents
and state insurumentalivies that are, effectively, arms of a state.” enjoy sovercign ity under the
Eleventh Amendment from swit mciuding those brought by the state’s own citizens. Sec, ¢.g.,

Woods v. Rondout Vallev Central Schoo| Dist, Bd of Educ, 4606 [F.3d 232, 236 (2d Cir. 2000)

{citations and internal quotation marks omitted). Eleventh Amendment immunity may be waived or

abrogated by Congress. Sce Gollomp v. Spiizer, 368 F.3d 355, 366 (2d Clir. 20093 (eiingWoods,

466 F 3d at 236}, There is no indication. wixd Plaintift does not arguc, that the State Defendanis have
waived. or that Congress has abroguted. their Eleventh Amendiment immunity,

*I'TThe New York State Unifled Court System 1s unquestionably an ‘arm of the State,”
and is entitled to Eleventh Amendment sovereign imimunity,” Gollomp, 368 F.3d at 208 (2d Cir.
2009} (citing Woods. 466 F.3d at 236). State officials sued in their oficial capacity are likewise
entitled to Eleventh Amendment sovereign immunity because “the real party in interest in an
official-capacity suit is the governmental entity and not the named official.” See Hater v. Melo, 502

U.S. 21, 25 (19915 (discussing Kentueky v. Grahan, 473 ULS. 159 (19853 and Mongll v. New York

City Dept. of Social Services 436 ULS. 638 (19781, Official-capacity sovereign immunity extends to

a state judge sued in her official capacity. Sge. e.g., Sundwall v, Leuba 28 Fed. App'x 11 (2d Cir.

2009y, Winkler v. Grant, No. 07 Civ, 62807, 2008 WL 1721758, at *2 {W.D.N.Y. Apr. 8, 2008);

Daniel v. Safir, 135 F. Supp. 2d 367, 272 (E.DNY. 2001 ;Brown v, City of New York 210 F. Supp.

2d 235, 237 (S.DNYL 1999, Theretore, Plaintifs ¢laims against NYS UCS and OCA and his
claims against the Judicial Defendants, 1o the extent they are asserted azainst those defendants in their
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oflicial capacities and do not seek purely prospeetive relief, are barred by the Eleventh Amendment.

Accordingly. Counts 1. HI-X. and X VI arc dismissed to the extent that they are
asserted against NYS UCS and OCA or any Judicial Defendant in his or her oftieial capacity.
However. the Eleventh Amendient does not bar ofticial-capacity claims against state offieials
seeking only prospective reliel. See Haris v, Mills, 572 F.3d 66, 72 (2d Cir. 2009} (citingEx parte
Young, 209 11,8, 123 (1908}, The only such claim, Count 11, is therefore not subject to Eleventh
Amecndment sovercign immunity.”

Youneer Abstention

Count [ of the Complaint sceks 1o have this Court “enjoin the efficacy of the [sie]
New York Judge Visitacion-Lewis'{s]order vemoving Zahl's Habeas Corpus Petition from Family
Court” (Compl. ¥ 622). and impose a “prospective mjunction prolubitingthe continued denial of
contact with A.Z., the forced pavment of up to $7.000 montihly to Defendaut Karen Kosovsky in
child support and add-on expenses’ {id. * 624) (conphasis in original). [t appears that Plaintiff was
seeking to preclude the Supreme Courl from taking further action on the habeas petition that he had
mitiated in Famtly Court, and 1o obtain an imjunction against enforcement of the custedy and child
support orders of the state court.’!

In ¥ounger v. Harris, the Supreme Couwrt reminded lower federal courts that it had

“repeat{ed] time and time again that the normal thing to do when federal courts are asked to enjoin

1"

Count 1 seeks to cnjom the “elficacy” of udge Visitacion-Lewis’s November 2007
arder, have this Court erther take jurisdiction ofthe state habeas corpus petition or
remand it to Family Court. prohibil the continued denial of contact berween Plaintiff
and Ivis daughter, and terminatc the monthly child support and add-on expense
pavinents,

To the extent that Plamtift's elaim in Count 11 secks to enjoin entforcement ol prior
orders, tather than to enjoin the habeas corpus proceedings in state court, that claim is
a direct challenge o the validity of those prior orders and must be dismissed on
Rooker-Feldman grounds for the reasons discussed above,
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pending proceedings in state courts 18 not 1o issue such mjunctions.” 401 US. 37, 45 (1971, This
rule of abstention reflects “a strong federal policy against federal-cout interference with pending

state judicial proceedings absent extraordinary civcumstances.” Middlesex County Ethics Committee

v. Garden State Bar Ass'n 437 U.S. 423,431 (1982 AlthoughYounger itself involved an attempt to

enjoin a state criminal prosccution. “[tlhe policies underlying Younger are fully applicable to
noncrinmmal judicial proccedings when important state interests arc invobved.” Middlesex. 457 US.
at 432 “Younper generally prohibits courts from “taking jurisdiction over federal constitutional

claims that invelve or coll into question ongoing state proceedings’ so as to avoid unnceessary

friction.” Sparvo. 331 F.34d at 73 {queting Diamond “D” Constr, Corp. v, McGowan 282 F.3d 191,
pending state proceeding. (2) that implicates an important state interest, and (3) the state proceeding
aftords the federal plaintitT an adegnate opportunity for judicial review of his or her federal
constitutional claims.” Spagro, 351 F.3d at 75, Howcever, even when these conditions are met “a
federal court may stili intervenc in state procecdings if the plaintift demonstrates bad faith,
harassment or any other unusual circumstance that would call for equitable reliet. " Id. at 75, n. 11
{internal quotations and citations omitted).

Count 1l secks (0 enjoin the state court from acting on a pending state habeas corpus
proceeding m which Pluinutt asserted essentially the sune claims as he does here. The {irst and thied
requirements lor mandatory abstention are therefore met. In addition, “few interests can be
considered morc central than a state's interest in regulating its own judicial svstem.” Id, at 75, Just as
it would be improper for & federal court “to substitute itsclt for the Siate’s appeltate cowrts, "Huffman
v. Pursue, Ltd. 420 U.S. 592, 609 (1975), 11 is equally inappropriate for a federal court o substitute
itself for the state’s adjudicator ot petitions for post judgment relief. The state has an important
witerest in ensuring that its “judicial svstem [will] be tairly accorded the opportunity 1o resolve
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federal issues arising in its courts.” Id, The sccond requirement for mandatory abstention is therefore
also met.

Plaint:¥s allegations of misconduct by Justice Diamond and miterference by Justice
Diamond with Justice Lobis’s decisions in 2003 do not deteat the propricty of Younger abstention.
They are not directed at the judge who presides over the pending state procecdings, Justice
Visitacion-Lowis. Those allegations do not call into doubt Justice Visitacion-Lewis's ability to
property adjudicatc Plamiift"s constitutional ¢latms in the context ot his siate court habeas corpus
petition. Accordingly, Count 11 1s hereby dismisscd.

Judicial muniey

A udge has absolute judicial immunity from suit with respect to claims brought

against her i her individual capacity, provided that her actions were taken in her judicial capacity

act by & judge is a "judicial” one relate]s] 1o the nuture of the act itself, Le.. whether it is 4 function
nornully pertormed by a judge, and to the expectatons of the parties. .., whether they dealt with the

judge in s judicial capacity.” [d. at 12 (sccond alteration in original) (quoting Stump v. Sparkman,

435 ULS, 349, 362 (1978)). “The fact that a proceeding is “informal and ox parte . . . has not been
thoughi to imply that an act otherwise within a judge's lawful jurisdiction was deprived of its judicial

character.”” Bliven v. Hunt 570 F.3d 204, 210 2d Cir. 2009} {quotngForrester v. White, 484 118,

219,227 (1988)). With the exception of cerlain actions alleeedly 1aken by Justice Diamend. all of
the Judicial Defendants’ actions of wluch Plamntiff complains (including but not limited to
decistons regarding custody. law guardianship and compensation therefor, child support and
Itigation expensc allocation)y were acts “normally performed by a jundge” and are therefore within

the scope of absolute judicial immunity.
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Plaintitf asserts that dustice Diamond is not emitled to judicial immunity because
she allegedly manipulated the assignment system 1o take control of Plamull"s case, and because
she fatled to rceuse herself for alleged conflict of imterest, Plaintiff cites no relevant anthority in
support of his conclusory assertions that such actions vitiated Justice Diamond’s jurisdiction to
handlc his case. and the Court has found none.

The failure of a Judge o recuse hersell in light of a conflict of nterest does not
deprive her of all jurisdiction to wy the ease before her, s0 as to deprive her of judicial immunity,

See. Svlvester v, Sorrell, No, 08-CV-88. 2000 WL 819383, at *3 (D. Vi. March 25, 2009} (citing

Havnes v. Schimelman 2000 WL 302623, at *1(D. Conn. March 8. 20000¢f. Rudow v, City of

New York, 822 F.2d 324, 328 (2d Cir. 1987} (conilict of interest does not defeat prosecutorial
immunity. which. hike judictal inununity. requires that the prosccutorial act not have been undertaken
in the absence of jurisdiction}. Furthermore. “the scope of the judge’s jurisdiction nst be construed
broadly where the issue is the immunity of the fudge. A judge will not be deprived of immunity
because the action he ook was in error, was done maliciously, or was in excess of his authority.”
Stump, 435 U5, a1 350, An crroneous application of the faw, even it it causes significant harm 1o a
party. is an act in excess. but not in the absence. of jurisdiction and does not deprive the judge of
immunity, 1d,, at 357, n.7 (explamning that cven convicting a criminal defendant of an nonexistent
crime 15 not an act undertaken withouot jurisdiction).

Plaintilf"s claims against the Judictal Delendants arc premised on (he judges” alleged
misapplication ot the law and consequent alleged violation ol Plaintiff™s constitutional rights. These
are precisely the kinds of claims from which the Supreme Court has held judges to be immune. The
Judicial Defendanis are therefore entitled (o absolute judicial immunity as to all claims arising out of
these judicial acts asserted against them in thewr individoal capacities. Accordingly, Counts |, 111-X,

and XV i are dismissed to the extent that they are asserted against any Judicial Defendant in his or
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her individual capacity.

Law Guagrdian Inmmunity

Defendant Douglas. repardless of “whether [she acted] as a “law guardian’ or guardian

ad litem,” 15 similarly entitled to absolute quasi-judicial immunitv, Lewilles v, Lobis 164 Fed.

#1(2d Cir. 2009). Accordingly, Counts L 1V, and VI-XI1 are herchy disnussed as agamst Douglas.

Failure 1o State Claims

When deciding 1 motion to dismiss a complaint for failure to state a claim pursuant
{o Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 12(b36), the Court accepts as true the non-conclusory factual
allegations in the complain, and draws all reasonable inferences in Plaintiff's favor. Roth v

Tennings. 489 F 3d 499, 307 (2d Cir 20071 see also Ashicroft v, lobal, 129 5.0 1937, 1949 (2009).

“Threadbare recitals of the elements of & cause of action, supported by mere conclusory statements,

do not suffice.” Ighal. 129 5.Ct. at 1949 (citing Bell Atlantic v. Twombly, S50 US. 344, 5355

(20071, To survive a motion to dismiss, a complaint must plead “cnough facts to state a claim o
relief that is plansible onits face” Twombly, 350 US. at 570, This plausibility standard govemns
pleadings in all ¢ivil actions. Igbal, 129 8. Ct. a1 1953, “Even after Twombly, though, {courts]

remain obligated to construe a pro se complaint liberally.” Harris v. Mills, 572 F.3d 66, 72 (2d Cir.

0093,

No Private Rieht of Action for Certam Claims

Plamuiff purports to assert claims for violations of NUY. Penal Law Articles 155 and
173 {Count XTI}, 18 ULS.C§ 1708 (Count X1V), 42 U.S.CL & 408(a 7y {Count XV, 42 US.C. §8
1028 and 1029 {(Count XVIL and I8 USO8 1503 and 1512 (Count XVII). However, these

criminal statutes do not provide for a private right of action and Plasntitt provides no authority
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suggesting otherwise. Sce, e.p.. Peavey v, Holder No, 05-819 {RWR), 2009 WL 3080464, aL *9

foe ol

(D.D.C. Sept. 28, 2009) (no private right of action pursuant fo 18 US.CL § 1503 Bates v,

Northwestern Human Services. Inc., 460 F. Supp. 2d 69, 100 {D.13.C. 20006} {no private right of

action pursuant to 42 U.S.C. & 408); Alexander v, Washineion Gas Light Co., 481 F. Supp. 2d 10,

13(D.D.C 20003 (same); Lucas-Cooper v, Palinerto GBA, No. 53-¢v-00959, 2000 WL 2583407, at

Fiduciary Trust Co., Intern,, No. (4 Civ. 6938(RMBHGWG), 2005 WL 6328596, at *14 (S.D.NY.

June 23, 2005) (no private right of action pursuant to 18 U.S.(C. § 1512); Moore v. New York City

Dent. of Bducation. No. 03 Civ. 2034 (LAP), 2004 WL 691523, at #*3 (S.D.NY. Mar. 31, 2004}

{no private right ol action under NUY. Penal Law §§ 175,40 and 195.00): Garay v, 11,5, Bancorp,

303 F. Supp. 2d 299, 302-03 (E.D.NYY. 2004) (no private right ot action pursuant to 42 US.C. §

1028Y, Booth v, Bannon, No. Civ. O1-147-J0, 2001 WL 347360641, at *1 (D. Or. June 8, 20031}

{same); Bartolomeo v, Liburdi No, 97-0024.ML, 1999 WL 143097, at #*2 (D.R.1. Feb. 4, 1999). [n

general, in determining whether a criminal statute smplics a privale right of action “the “dispositive
question’ is whether Congress intended o create a private right ot action,” and courts “are to be
‘especially reluctant” to imply a private right of action where the statute explicilly provides a different

remedy.” Alail Salahuddin v, Alaji, 232 ¥.3d 205, 308 (2d Cir. 2000) (citations omitted). In the

absence of any authority to support an implied right ot action pursuant fo the above-named criminal
statutes. the Cowt remains “especially veluctant™ wo inler such a right. Accordingly, Counts XTI and
KIV-XVIT are hereby dismisscd.

Statutes of Limilations

Under the federal “discovery rule” a claim accrues when the “plainlifl knows or has

reason to know of the mjury which is the basis of his action.” Peart v, Citv of Longe Beach 296 F.34d
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76, 80 (2d Cir. 20023 {quoting Singleton v. City of New York 632 F.2d 185,191 (2d Cir. 1980)).

While the 367-page Complaint is not entirely coherent, itis clear that Plaintift had suffered and
discovered the injuries which give rise to his claims, namely the loss of his relationship with his
daughter and the imposition of the inancial burdens resuliimg from the support and add-on expense
determinations, by the fime of Judge Lobis’s “decision and order” on Apnil 14, 2002, By that date,
Justice Diamond had issued the huly 10, 1998, judgiment of divorce. including the resolution of the
outstanding financial issues and the February 24, 1994, order modifying the prior custody order, and
Justice Lobis had issued the orders of January 27, 2003, and April 14, 2003, and had heard oral
argument on Plaintift™s petition and Karen Kosovsky’s motion on February 28, 2003, These (wo
judges had also made the appomtments ot defendant Jo Ann Douglus and the various “forensies” to
which Plainuff objected. Indecd. Plamatt alleges no new injury, other than the continuation and
gxtension of the existing imurics, after April 2002, Plaintiff™s claims therefore accerned ne later than
April 14, 2003,

Plaintitt contends that the acerval of his clanms should be delayed or the running of
the statutes ol hmitations should be tolled on twe grounds. Plamtft first argues that the ongoing
nature of the Defendants™ atleged conspiracices tolls the statutes of fimitations. However, it Is well
established that the limitations period is not affected by the existence of an ongoing conspiracy that

eneompasses othenwvise lime-barred claims, Seg, c.o., Pinaud v. County of Suffolk 52 F.3d 1139,

1157 (24 Cw. [993); Cseka v, County of Suftoli 85 F. Supp. 2d 117, 121 {E.D.N.Y, 2000},

Covington v, Citv of New Yorl 9416 F. Supp. 282, 286 (S.D.NY. 1996), Plaintift also argues

conclusoriy that Defendants’ fravdulent concealment tolls the statutes of limitations. To suceeed in
tolting the lunitations period on this argument. Plainti{l must prove: (1) wrongful concealment by
| Defendants!, (2) which prevented [his] discovery of the nature of the c¢laim within the limitations

ncriod, and {3} due diligence i pursuing the discovery of the ¢laim.” Inre Meryill Lvnch Lid, P'ship
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Lit,. 154 F.3d 56, 60 (2d Cir. 1998). However, Plaintift proffers no facts substantiating any instance
of concealment alleged to have occurred or continued m or after 2002, and mstead points to recent
cvents that are manifestly in open view (namely, the ongeing litigation in state court)’” Therefore,
neither the time of accerual nor the runming of the limitations periods is atfected.

Seetion 1983, 1985 and 1986 Clains

Federal courts apply the federal “discovery rule” for ¢laim accrual and the “gencral or
residual Tstate] statate Tof Himitations] for personal injury actions™ to section 1983 claims. Pearl, 296

F.3d at 79-80 (ulterations in original} (quotingOwens v, Okure 488 ULS, 235, 249-530 (1989)). In

this case. that portod is three yeuars, Seed. (citing N.Y. C.P.L.R. § 214(5)}. Smailarly. the statute of

limitations for scction 1985 claims Is three vears. See Paive v, Police Dept. of Schenectady, 264 F.3d

197, 199 0.2 (24 Civ, 2000 (onongCernwell v Rebimson. 23 F 2d 693 704 (1 2d Cir. 19943,

Therefore, the limitations period expired no later than April 14, 2006, and Plaintitf's section 1983 and
T985 claims arc untimely, Section 1984 elaimig are subjoct o a one vear statute of limitations, 42
US.CA. § 1986 (West 2003). Accord Paige, 264 F.3d at 199 n.2. Therefore, the limitations period
expired no later than April 14, 2004, and PlaintilTs section 1986 claims are untimely. Accordingly,
Counts TH-V are dismissed in their entirely.
RICO Claims

While RICO claims are subject (o the same acerual rule as other federal claims,see

Merrill Lynch, 134 F.2d at 58, they are also capable of “separate acerual,” starting a new limitations

period running each e a “new and independent” RICO violation occurs,id, at 39 {citing Bankers

frn any cvent, Plainnitt had ample opportunity to discover the non-State Defendants’
alieged contribution o Ins injuries by April 14, 2003, He atteripted 1o present
cvidence during the divorce trial of the Kosovsky Delendanis” and Dobrish’s
misappropriation and improper use of certain documents, and Defendant McKeown's
2000 book detailed all of his actions, on behalf of the Kosovsky Delendants, to
werment Plaimtift and undermine his rights in the matrimonial action.
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Trust Co. v. Rhioades, 859 F.2d 1090, 1103 (2d Cir. 1988)). Sec also Rotella v. Wood, 328 UK, 549,

554 {20000 {adopting the injury discovery rule for RICO claims). This is because “in some mstances
a conlinuing series of lrandulent transacuons undertaken within a common scheme can produce

multiple mjuries which each have separate Himitations perieds.” Merrill Lynch 154 F.34d at 58 (citing

Bingham v, Zoll 66 F.3d 552, 33961 (2d Cir. 1995)) (noting that theBingham court had found that
the “new injurics” had been “caused by z variely ol schemes which were refated only in their ultiimate
ooal™y. Later effouts 1o conceal the injury, however, are not “scparate and dislinet fraudulent acts
resulting in new and ndependent injuries,” and thus do not cause the “scparate accrual” of
subscquent RICO clamms. [d. at 59-08. The Sceond Cireuit has held thar “[c]ollection in later years
cannot be viewed as a separate and distnct fraud crealing now injuries as it was simply a part of the

alleged scheme.™ Id. at 60, See also Long Istand Lighting Co. v. Imo Indus,, Ing, 6 F.3d 876, 887

(2d Cir. 1993} (holding that damage resulting trom plaintitt’s installation of cquipment previously
known 1o be defective was not sufficiently independent from the injury caused by the receipt of the

defective equipment Lo give rise Lo separate accrual); Rafter v, Liddle, No, 05 Civ, 4296 (TPG), 2006

WL 2255093, at *7 (8. DNVY. Aug. 4, 20006} {holding that plomnGf¥ s injury was her potential liabihty
for subsequent attorneys fees, and there was therefore no separate accrual when those fees were

actually imposed): Nat'l Group [or Comme’n and Computers, Lid, v, Lucent Tech., Inc, 420 F. Supp.

2d 2522606 (S DUNY. 20063 (refusing to apply separate accrual rule where plaintiff could have
diseovered “the full extent of related. future injuries at the outset of a single, unluwful scheme™);

Pharr v, Everzreen Gardens, Inc, No. 03 Civ, 55320 (HBY, 2004 WL 42202, at *2 (S D.NY_ Jan. 7,

2004) (holding that 1t was “beyond peradventure™ that cach of defendants” monthly mailing of illegal
rent bills did not give rise to an injury new and independent from the initial tjury caused by the
underlying Hicgality}.

The only post-April 2003 injurics of which Plaintiff complaing ar¢ the dircet resulis of
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the entorcement of, and compliance with, prior court arders and decisions, many of which were the
products of Plaintift’s own initiation of proceedings 10 state court. These injuries flowed directly
from Plaintifi™s losses in the state court proceedings in or before Apnl 2003, and arc not “new and
independent” and thus do not imphcate the separate acernal rule.

Similarly, the alleged occurrence of RICO predicate acts subsequent to Plamtift's
discovery of his imjuries does not affect the acerual of his RICO claims.  InRgtella, the Supreme
Court reiterated its eaclier rejection of the Third Circuit’s “last predicate act rule™ whiclh had held that
a RICQ ¢laim accrues when the plaintitt knew or should have known of the injury and the pattern of
rackeleering activity, and begins 1o run anew upon cach predicate act forming part ot the same

pattern, 328 ULS. at 554 (citing Klebr v, A.O, Smith Corp. 521 LS, 179 (199711 Accordmgly.

S

Plaintitt's allegations thai the delendants have commutied recent acts, namely the matling of court
orders and decisions, even if those acts could be legitimately construed as RICO predicate acts, do
not renew or otherwise delay the sccruai of his RICO claims.

Plaintitt™s RICO claims are subject 10 a four-year statute of limitations. See Agency

Holding Corp. v, Malley-Dull & Agsociates, Inc, 483 UK. 143, 156 (19871 accord Pearl, 296 F.3d

at 79 n. 1. Plamtiff argucs that the limitations periods have not begun to run on thesc claims because
the objectives of the RICO conspiracics have not vel been achieved or abandeoned, (Opp. Br. 37
PlaintitT cites several Second Clreuit criminal appellate decisions in support of his argument, but fails
to appreciale the distinction between crimimal and civil RICO clatims. Thus. 1t 1s true thai the statute
ot limitations tor the eriminal prosecution ol a RICO conspiracy “does not begit to run until the

objuectives of the conspiracy have been cither achieved or abandoned.” United States v, Eppolito, 543

F.3d 25, 48-49 (2d Cir, 20081, [ but there are significant ditterences between civil and criminal
RICO actions, and [the Supreme Court] has held that criminal RICO does not provide an apt
analogy ™ for the purpose of determining the civil imuations period, Kiehr, 521 U.S. at 188, Atany
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vate. it is now well established that the eivil RICO statute of limitations begins to run, as do other
evil statutes of limitations, when the plamtift discovers. or should have discovered, his injury. See
Merrill Lvach 154 F.3d at 58. Therelore. the limitations period on Plamuft™s RICG claims expired
no later than April 14, 2007, and those claims are untimely. Accordigly, Counts VI-IX are
disnussed in thoir entivety,

Wirelap Act Clains

The Wiretap Act. I8 ULS.CL 83 2310t scq., provides a private right of action to “any
person whosc wire. oral, or ¢iectronic communication is infercepted. disclosed, or intentionally used
in violation ol this chapter.” 18 US.C A § 2520 {West Supp. 2009}, Claims under the Wiretap Act
are subject to a two-vear statute of Himitations. which begins to run from “the date upon which the
claimant {irst has a rcasonable opportunity 1o discover the violation.” 18 US.C.A. § 2520(e) (West
2003y, Thercfore, the limitations period on Plainuft s Wirctap Act claims expired no later than Apnl
14, 2005, and those claims are untimely. Accordingly, Count X111 1s dismissed in its entirety.

Claims Against Soft Sple Defendants

The Cowrt has held in abeyance Plntiff’s effort to obtain judgment by default
against the Soft Split Defendants, one of whose atleged agent for scrvice of process has denied
halding any such authority. Plaintif”s claims against the Solt Sphit Defendants arc of the same
nature, and based op the substanially the same convoluted, conclusory and ultimately deficient
allegations as those against the other Defendants. Even if proper service were assumed and any
well-pleaded lactual allegations taken as admttted, the Complamt is plamly deficient o state any
federal claim upon which relicf can be granted against the Soft Split Defendants. Accordingly. the

complaint will be dismissed as against the Sofl Sphit Defendants as well.
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State Law Claims

In light ol the preclusion and/or deficiency of Plamtift™s lederal claims, the Court

declines (0 excreise supplemental jurisdiction of his state law claims. Sce 28 U.S.C. §1367{c)3).

CONCLUSION
For the lorcgoing reasons.and for substantially the reasons argued in the motions to
dismiss the Complaint, the Moving Delendants’ motions are granted and the Complaint is
dismissed in its entircty, as agamst all defendants.
The Clerk of Court 18 respectfully requested to enter judgment disnmissing the
Complaint in accordance with this apinion and 1o terminate all pending motions, and closc this
cuse.

SO ORDERED.

Dated: New York, New York
Mareh 2. 2011

g
LAURA TAYLORSWAIN
Umted States District Judge
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